
 

CITY OF PHOENIX PLANNING COMMISSION 
Regular Meeting and Public Hearing 

Monday, October 9, 2023 
Hybrid Meeting in Person and Via Zoom 

6:30 p.m. at 220 N. Main St. (Phoenix Plaza Civic Center) 

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88267152938?pwd=6G_fnzfKcHxkoFd4vtevmi794IqXTg.zJ6BqUtUXqvLBEeO 
Passcode: 112358 

Or One tap mobile : 
+16699006833,,88267152938#,,,,*112358# US (San Jose)
+17193594580,,88267152938#,,,,*112358# US

Or Telephone: 
    Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): 

+1 669 900 6833 US or +1 719 359 4580 US or +1 253 205 0468 US or +1 253 215 8782 US or
+1 346 248 7799 US or +1 669 444 9171 US or +1 312 626 6799 US or +1 360 209 5623 US or
+1 386 347 5053 US or +1 507 473 4847 US or +1 564 217 2000 US or +1 646 931 3860 US or
+1 689 278 1000 US or +1 929 205 6099 US or +1 301 715 8592 US or +1 305 224 1968 US or
+1 309 205 3325 US

Webinar ID: 882 6715 2938 
Passcode: 112358 
    International numbers available: https://us06web.zoom.us/u/kb40ykQDo4 

1. Call to Order/Roll Call

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Approval of the Agenda

4. Approval of Minutes:
a. September 11, 2023 (pg 2)

5. Public Comments: This item is for persons wanting to present information or raise an issue, not on the agenda.
Each person shall be limited to three minutes and may not allocate their time to others unless authorized by the
Presiding Officer. To comment, please write your name on the sign-in sheet. When your name is called, step forward
to the podium and state your name and address for the record. (In accordance with state law, a recording of the
meeting will be available at city hall, but only your name will be included in the meeting minutes.) While the Planning
Commission or staff may briefly respond to your statement or question, the law does not permit action on, or
extended discussion of, any item not on the agenda except under special circumstances.

6. New Business:
a. Public Hearing: DC23-02 – Exclusive Agriculture pg (5)

7. Old Business:
None 

8. Comments from the Commissioners:

9. Planning Managers Report

10. Adjournment

Agenda Packet Page 1

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88267152938?pwd=6G_fnzfKcHxkoFd4vtevmi794IqXTg.zJ6BqUtUXqvLBEeO
https://us06web.zoom.us/u/kb40ykQDo4


 

 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – September 11, 2023 
 

Minutes for City of Phoenix Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting and Public Hearing 

Monday, September 11, 2023 
6:30p.m. at 220 N. Main St. (Phoenix Civic Center)  

In-Person/Zoom Hybrid Meeting 
 
1.  CALL TO ORDER and ROLL CALL 
Larry Dickson, Planning Chair, called the Planning Commission's regular meeting to order 
on Monday, September 11, 2023, at 6:30 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL 
 

PRESENT:  Carolyna Marshall, Larry Dickson, Milan Hanson, and Marcia 
Monceaux 

ABSENT:  Jeffrey Luers, Terry Helfrich 
 
STAFF PRESENT: Zac Moody, Planning Manager 
 Jeff Wilcox, Associate Planner 
 
2.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
None 
  
4.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
a. July 24, 2023 Regular Meeting  
 
MOTION (00:02:00): I move we approve the minutes for July 24th 
MOVED BY MONCEAUX, SECONDED BY HANSON. 
MOTION APPROVED BY UNANIMOUS VOTE  
 
5.  PUBLIC COMMENT: 
None 
 
6.  PLANNING COMISSION DISCUSSION OF NON-AGENDA ITEMS: 
None 
 
6.  NEW BUSINESS:  
a. Public Hearing: Conditional Use Permit, File # CU23-02 – PM Design Group 
 
Staff read the Opening Statement 
 
Staff Report, Summary (Zac Moody) 

• This application is for a Type-3 Conditional Use Permit 

Agenda Packet Page 2



 

 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – September 11, 2023 
 

• The proposal is for a drive thru-coffee shop and parking area.  
• The application is subject to the standards within Phoenix Land Development Code 

(PLDC) Ch 2.4, Ch 3, 4.2 and 4.4. 
• The building measures approximately ~2100 square feet 
• A revised landscaping plan was required because the parking area was not initially 

landscaped. It is shown in the Agenda Packet. Staff finds the revised landscaping 
plan meets, or can meet the standards of the PLDC with conditions of approval as 
outlined in the Final Order. 

• Parking was provided beyond the required amount; however the site plan shows 
the parking area is to be shared with nearby pad lots.  

• Staff finds the application can meet the standards and criteria within the zoning 
code and recommends approval with conditions as indicated in the Draft Final 
Order. 

 
Applicant Testimony, Chuck Doherty, PM Design Group (11314 NW 13th Ct, Vancouver 
WA 98685) 

• Doherty thanked the commission for their thoughtful consideration. 
• He discussed rooftop unit screening, pathways through development, bike parking, 

and crosswalk requirements. 
 
Commission Questions 

• Will sign permits be required? Yes, there will be a separate zoning and building 
permit process for any proposed signage. 

• The lot to the north, is that vacant? That’s correct, the site to the north is not 
being considered at this time and is vacant. 

• Will vehicle access be provided to the coffee shop from Hwy 99 headed south? 
Yes, there will be a turn pocket as proposed. 

• Was comment received? Yes, public agencies provided comment on the 
project, this included comment on stormwater facilities, and vehicle trips, all 
agency comment has been included in the Agenda Packet for consideration. 

 
Public Hearing Opened 
 
Finding no members of the public in attendance, the Public Hearing was closed so that 
discussion and deliberation could begin. 
 
Commission Discussion (Staff responses in bold) 

• None 
 
MOTION (00:19:00): I move to approve CU23-02 and SP23-07 a conditional use and 
site design review for the development of the site with the conditions of approval 
as outlined in the Planning Commission Final Order.  
 
MOVED BY MONCEAUX, SECONDED BY HANSON. 

Agenda Packet Page 3



 

 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes – September 11, 2023 
 

MOTION APPROVED BY UNANIMOUS VOTE 
 
7.  OLD BUSINESS: 
None 
 
8.  COMMENTS FROM THE COMMISSIONERS: 
None 
 
9. PLANNING MANAGERS REPORT: 

• Upcoming meetings: There may be an uptick in planning commission meetings 
over the next few months because of several Type-III applications on the horizon, 
zoning code amendments and an upcoming annexation. 

• City Website: The new City website goes live on 9/12. Staff encourages the 
commission to have a look and provide feedback. 

• Phoenix Rising Celebration: The City is hosting a BBQ Celebration at Phoenix 
Elementary School, Saturday 9/16. The intent is to celebrate the rebuild and how 
far the community has come since the Almeda Drive Fire. There will be family 
activities. 

 
10. ADJOURNMENT: 
The meeting adjourned at 6:55 p.m.  
 
Respectfully submitted by,  
 
 
Jeff Wilcox 
Associate Planner 

Agenda Packet Page 4



DA23-02 Staff Report  1 

Community & Economic Development Department 
220 N. Main Street / P.O. Box 330 

Phoenix, Oregon 97535 
(541) 535-2050

DEVELOPMENT CODE AMENDMENT – DC23-02 STAFF REPORT 

File: DC23-02 - Creation of an Exclusive Agriculture Overlay - Chapter 2.12 and Modification 
of Holding Zone – Chapter 2.11 (Type IV Text Amendment)  
Location: N/A 
Land Use District: N/A 
Date Notice of Application Published: September 15, 2023 
Date of Hearing: October 9, 2023 (1st evidentiary hearing) 

I. OWNER INFORMATION
N/A

II. APPLICANT
City of Phoenix
Joe Slaughter, Community & Economic Development Director
PO Box 330
Phoenix, OR  97535

III. SUMMARY OF PROPOSED AMENDMENTS
The proposed amendments to the Phoenix Land Development Code will create an Exclusive
Agriculture (E-A) Overlay to provide a land use classification that allows for the preservation
of agriculture and agricultural uses on properties annexed to the City. The overlay may only
be applied upon the request of the property owner, and only if the use on the parcel(s)
is agriculture. The overlay can be removed utilizing the Land Use District Map Amendment
(zone change) procedures of Chapter 4.7. For removal of the E-A overlay, the property owner
must certify that all agriculture and agriculture-related uses not otherwise permitted by the
underlying zoning district have been terminated by the date of application for removal of the
E-A overlay, and shall not be considered legal nonconformities. The proposed amendments
will also amend the Holding Zone (Chapter 2.11) to allow for agricultural use (when the E-A
Overlay is applied) and for the development of public and private infrastructure necessary to
facilitate future urban development.

The City of Phoenix was allocated $4,500,000 in the 2023 legislative session (see Section 
248, SB 5506 attached) for infrastructure development in the South Valley Employment 
Center, which is the employment portions of PH-5. Much of this area will be annexed to the 
City under file number AN23-02 to help facilitate the development of infrastructure into the 
area. As described in the annexation ordinance (ORD. 1033), the PH-5 properties1 will be 
assigned the Holding Zone designation upon annexation as the land will not be available for 
urban development until Urbanization Element Policies 2.1 – 2.3, along with all applicable 
provisions of Phoenix Land Development Code Chapter 4.7 have been addressed. The 
owners of the land have requested that the E-A Overlay be assigned to the properties to allow 

1  Also referred to Arrowhead properties concerning ownership or EFU properties concerning zoning. 
Agenda Packet Page 5



 
 
 
 
 
  

DA23-02 Staff Report   2 

Community & Economic Development Department 
220 N. Main Street / P.O. Box 330 

Phoenix, Oregon 97535 
(541) 535-2050 

 

for the continuation of existing agricultural uses until the property is made available for urban 
development. 
 

IV. APPLICABLE CRITERIA 
PLDC, Chapter 4.1.6 – Type IV Procedure (Legislative) 
PLDC, Chapter 4.7.2 – Legislative Amendments 

 
V. AGENCY COMMENTS 

N/A 
 
VI. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

None 
 
VII. RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the findings for the text amendment, staff recommends APPROVAL of the 
amendments as outlined in the Proposed Final Order and that the amendments be forwarded 
to the City Council for consideration.  

 
VIII. PROPOSED MOTION 

“I move to recommend City Council approve the text amendment to add Chapter 2.12 and 
amend Chapter 2.11 in the Phoenix Land Development Code as outlined in the Planning 
Commission Final Order.” 

 
IX. EXHIBITS 

A. Specific Text to be Amended 
B. PC Proposed Final Order 
C. Section 248, SB 5506 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 

 
 
Joe Slaughter 
Community & Economic Development Director 
 

Agenda Packet Page 6



Exhibit “A” 

 
Text to be added/amended in the Phoenix Development Code: 
New Text = Bold 

Deleted Text = Strikethrough 
 

 

Chapter 2.11 – Holding Zone (H-Z) 
 

Sections 

2.11.1 – Purpose ..................................................................................................................... 103 

2.11.2 – Permitted and Conditionally Permitted Land Uses .................................................. 103 
2.11.3 – Land Division Prohibited ......................................................................................... 103 
 

2.11.1 – Purpose 

Purpose. The primary purpose of this zoning district is to provide a zoning designation for 

properties annexed to the City that have not yet been tested for facility adequacy to allow 

development of urban level densities and intensities. Properties will receive the City zoning 

designation which most closely matches existing Jackson County zoning upon annexation. Where 

no generally equivalent zoning exists (e.g., Exclusive Farm Use (EFU) properties), properties will 

be assigned the Holding Zone designation upon annexation unless a concurrent application for 

Land Use District Map Amendment (zone change), meeting the standards of Chapter 4.7, is 

submitted and approved.  

 

2.11.2 – Permitted Uses 

Properties in this zoning district are allowed one dwelling unit meeting the development standards 

of the R-1 zone and one accessory dwelling.  

Development and improvements within an H-Z zoning district shall be restricted to: 

• New construction or remodeling of one single-family dwelling and accessory 

dwelling unit per existing parcel. 

• The construction/installation of public and private facilities (including municipal 

water, sanitary sewer, public roads, and franchise utilities) necessary to facilitate 

future urban development. 

• Agricultural buildings and other improvements directly related to farming when the 

Exclusive Agricultural (E-A) Overlay is also applied. 

 

2.11.3 – Land Division Prohibited 

Except for portions of existing lots or parcels that have received zoning by meeting the standards 

of Chapter 4.7, no new parcels or lots may be created in the Holding Zone. This section does not 

preclude the adjustment of existing property lines. 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Packet Page 7



2.12 – Exclusive Agriculture (E-A) Overlay 
Sections  

2.12.1 – Purpose................................................................................................................... 104 

2.12.2 – Criterion for Application of E-A………………….............................................. 104 

2.12.3 – Criterion for Removal of E-A............................................................................... 104 

 

2.12.1 – Purpose 

The E-A overlay district is intended to provide a land use classification within an urban 

area that allows for the preservation of agriculture and agricultural uses through zoning. 

 

2.12.2 – Criterion for Application of E-A  

At the request of the property owner, the City may apply the E-A overlay to a parcel(s) if 

the use on the parcel(s) is agriculture, as defined herein. 

 

2.12.3 – Criterion for Removal of E-A 

The E-A overlay may be removed utilizing the Land Use District Map Amendment (zone 

change) procedures of Chapter 4.7. For removal of the E-A overlay, the property owner 

must certify that all agriculture and agriculture-related uses not otherwise permitted by 

the underlying zoning district have been terminated by the date of application for removal 

of the E-A overlay, and shall not be considered legal nonconformities. 

 

2.12.4 – Permitted Uses and Development, E-A 

Development and improvements within an E-A overlay district shall be restricted to: 

• Agricultural buildings and other improvements directly related to farming. 

• Property line adjustments. 

• New construction or remodeling of one single-family dwelling and accessory 

dwelling unit per existing parcel. 

• The construction/installation of public and private facilities (including municipal 

water, sanitary sewer, public roads, and franchise utilities) necessary to facilitate 

future urban development. 
 

Agenda Packet Page 8



EXHIBIT “B” 
 

Phoenix Planning Commission Final Order Applicant: City of Phoenix 
File no. DA23-02 

 

 

BEFORE THE PHOENIX PLANNING COMMISSION 

S T A T E  O F  O R E G O N ,  C I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  
 
 
IN THE MATTER OF PLANNING FILE NO. DC23-02 ADDING 

CHAPTER 2.12 - EXCLUSIVE AGRICULTURE (E-A) OVERLAY, 
AND AMEDNING CHAPTER 2.11 - HOLDING ZONE (H-Z) IN 

THE PHOENIX LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, THE PHOENIX 

PLANNING COMMISSION FINDS 
   

1. The Planning Commission held a properly noticed public hearing on this 
matter on October 9, 2023;  

2. The Planning Commission asked the Community & Economic Development 
Director to present a Staff report and a final order with findings and recom-
mendations at the public hearing;  

3. At the public hearing evidence was presented and the public was given an 
opportunity to comment;  

4. The Planning Commission finds that the proposed text amendment is con-
sistent with the Phoenix Comprehensive Plan and the Phoenix Land Devel-
opment Code. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT based on the information presented in the 
staff report and the following findings of fact, the Phoenix Planning 
Commission recommends approval of the proposed text amendment to the 
Phoenix Land Development Code, adding Chapter 2.12 – Exclusive 
Agriculture (E-A) Overlay and amending Chapter 2.11 – Holding Zone (H-Z). 
 
In the following, any text quoted directly from City codes appears in italics; Plan-
ning Commission findings appear in regular typeface.  
 

PHOENIX LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 
 
4.7.1  Purpose 
The purpose of this Chapter is to provide standards and procedures for legislative 
and quasi-judicial amendments to this Code and the land-use district map. These 
will be referred to as “map and text amendments.” Amendments may be necessary 
from time to time to reflect changing community conditions, needs, and desires, to 
correct mistakes, or to address changes in the law. 

) 
)     ORDER  
)  
)  
 
 

Agenda Packet Page 9



 

 
 Page 2 
   

 
4.7.2  Legislative Amendments 
A. Legislative Amendments. Legislative amendments are policy decisions made 

by City Council. They are reviewed using the Type IV Procedure in Chapter 
4.1.6 – Type IV Procedure (Legislative) and shall conform to the criteria listed 
in 4.7.2.B and to Chapter 4.7.6 – Transportation Planning Rule Compliance, as 
applicable. 

 
FINDING:  As a legislative amendment and consistent with the Type IV procedures 
in Chapter 4.1.6, the Planning Commission shall make a recommendation to the 
City Council on this amendment pursuant to the criteria in Chapter 4.7.2 (B) and 
Chapter 4.7.6 below. As part of this requirement, the Planning Commission held a 
properly noticed public hearing on the matter on October 9, 2023.  The standard is 
met.   

 
B. Criteria for Legislative Amendments.  

The text of this Development Code may be recommended for amendment and 
amended provided that all the following criteria are met: 
1.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the purpose of the subject sec-

tion and article. 
2.  The proposed amendment is consistent with other Provisions of this Code. 
3.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the goals and policies of the 

Comprehensive Plan, and most effectively carries out those goals and pol-
icies of all alternatives considered.  

 
FINDING:  The text amendment as proposed will create Chapter 2.12 of the Land 
Development Code. There is no existing “purpose” for this Chapter in the Code. 
The “purpose” will be adopted along with the creation of the other details of the 
Chapter. The timing of the creation of this Chapter, and the “exclusive agriculture 
overlay” it accomplishes, is based on the need to annex large tracts of land, cur-
rently zoned EFU in the County, to facilitate the development of infrastructure into 
these areas. The land will not be available for urban levels of development until 
Urbanization Element Policies 2.1 – 2.3, along with all applicable provisions of 
Phoenix Land Development Code Chapter 4.7 have been addressed. The assign-
ment of the proposed Exclusive Agriculture Overlay will allow for the continued use 
of the property for agriculture upon annexation. The purpose of Chapter 2.11 is to 
provide a zoning designation for properties annexed to the City that have not yet 
been tested for facility adequacy to allow for development of urban level densities 
and intensities. The proposed changes to this chapter are consistent with the pur-
pose of the chapter as they, along with the E-A Overlay, allow for the continuation 
of agricultural uses and the construction of urban infrastructure, while still restrict-
ing urban development. 
 
The proposed E-A Overlay will be used in tandem with the Holding Zone designa-
tion to allow for the continuation of agricultural uses on properties annexed to the 
City prior to that land being available for urban development. This is an interim step 

Agenda Packet Page 10



 

 
 Page 3 
   

in the zoning process that will simplify the development of urban infrastructure 
while also preserving the current use. The changes to the holding zone will also 
allow for the continuation of agriculture use and the development of urban infra-
structure. These efforts support portions of the Land Use and Urbanization Ele-
ments in providing a coordinated process for the urbanization of the lands recently 
added to the City’s UGB. Prior to developing lands added to the UGB from urban 
reserve area PH-5, the owners/developers must first submit an application for a 
Comprehensive Plan amendment to adopt specific area or neighborhood plans 
consistent with Policy 2.1. of the Urbanization Element and the City must adopt 
applicable standards per Policies 2.2 and 2.3, which safeguard against parceliza-
tion and establish an industrial employment zone for the area. This is one of sev-
eral steps to be taken in amending the Comprehensive Plan and Development 
Code to facilitate the development of these areas recently added to the UBG. The 
criteria are met.   
 
4.7.4 – Conditions of Approval 
A quasi-judicial decision may be for denial, approval, or approval with conditions. 
A legislative decision may be approved, modified, or denied. 
 
FINDING:  As a legislative amendment, no conditions of approval are warranted 
or proposed.  The standard is met.   
 
4.7.6 – Transportation Planning Rule Compliance 
A. When a development application includes a proposed comprehensive plan 

amendment or land use district change, the proposal shall be reviewed to de-
termine whether it significantly affects a transportation facility, in accordance 
with Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-012-0060. Significant means the 
proposal would: 
 

1. Change the functional classification of an existing or planned transporta-
tion facility. This would occur, for example, when a proposal causes future 
traffic to exceed the capacity of collector street classification, requiring a 
change in the classification to an arterial street, as identified by the Com-
prehensive Plan and the Transportation System Plan; or 

2. Change the standards implementing a functional classification system; or 
3. Allow types or levels of land use that would result in levels of travel or ac-

cess what are inconsistent with the functional classification of a transpor-
tation facility; or 

4. Reduce the level of service of the facility below the minimum acceptable 
level identified in the Comprehensive Plan and the Transportation System 
Plan. 
 

FINDING:  The proposed amendments have no direct impact on the functional 
classification of existing or planned transportation facilities, nor are there any 
changes to standards that implement a functional classification.  Reduced levels 

Agenda Packet Page 11



 

 
 Page 4 
   

of service of transportation facilities are not anticipated as part of these amend-
ments.  The criteria are met.   

 
B. Amendments to the comprehensive plan and land use standards which signif-

icantly affect a transportation facility shall assure that allowed land uses are 
consistent with the function, capacity, and level of service of the facility identi-
fied in the Transportation System Plan. This shall be accomplished by one of 
the following: 
 
1. Limiting allowed land uses to be consistent with the planned function of 

the transportation facility; or 
2. Amending the Transportation System Plan to ensure that existing, im-

proved, or new transportation facilities are adequate to support the pro-
posed land uses consistent with the requirement of the Transportation 
Planning Rule; or, 

3. Altering land use designations, densities, or design requirements to reduce 
demand for automobile travel and meet travel needs through other modes 
of transportation. 

 
FINDING:  The proposed amendments do not significantly affect the city’s trans-
portation facilities.  The criteria are not applicable.    
 
 
 

_____________________________                       _____________________________ 
Larry Dickson      Date 
Planning Commission Chair 
 
 
 
_____________________________                      _____________________________ 
Zac Moody      Date 
Planning Manager 

Agenda Packet Page 12



Exhibit “C” 

 

Section 248 from 2023 Oregon Senate Bill 5506 

 

SECTION 248. Notwithstanding any other law limiting expenditures, the limitation on 

expenditures established by section 4 (3), chapter ___, Oregon Laws 2023 (Enrolled Senate Bill 5524), for 

the biennium beginning July 1, 2023, as the maximum limit for payment of expenses from fees, moneys 

or other revenues, including Miscellaneous Receipts, but excluding lottery funds and federal funds, 

collected or received by the Oregon Business Development Department, for infrastructure, is increased 

by the following amounts, for the issuance of grants from proceeds of lottery revenue bonds, for the 

following projects:  

(1) Umatilla Electrical Cooperative Association Industrial Site Utility Expansion: $5,000,000.  

(2) City of Phoenix Industrial Improvements, South Valley Employment Center: $4,500,000.  

(3) City of Aumsville Wastewater System Improvements: $5,000,000.  

(4) City of Molalla New Wastewater Treatment Plant: $5,000,000.  

(5) City of Newport Wastewater Treatment and Conveyance System Improvements: $3,825,000.  

(6) Port of Coos Bay Channel Modification: $20,000,000. 

Agenda Packet Page 13


	PC Agenda 10 09 23
	4a - 09 11 23 Draft Minutes
	6a - DC23-02 Combined
	1_DC23-02 PC Staff Report
	File: DA23-02 - Creation of an Exclusive Agriculture Overlay - Chapter 2.12 and Modification of Holding Zone – Chapter 2.11 (Type IV Text Amendment)
	Date Notice of Application Published: September 15, 2023

	2_Exhibit A Chapter 2.12 Exclusive Agriculture
	3_Exhibit B_DC23-02 Proposed Final Order
	4.7.1  Purpose
	4.7.2  Legislative Amendments
	4.7.4 – Conditions of Approval
	4.7.6 – Transportation Planning Rule Compliance

	4_Exhibit C




